
 
 

Constitution and Standards Committee 
 

Date: Wednesday, 23 November 2022 
Time: 
 

6.00 p.m. 

Venue: Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall 

 
 
Contact Officer: Bryn Griffiths 
Tel: 0151 691 8117 
e-mail: bryngriffiths@wirral.gov.uk 
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk 
 

 
This meeting will be webcast at 

https://wirral.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 

 
AGENDA  
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 
 Members are asked to consider whether they have any disclosable 

pecuniary interests and/or any other relevant interest in connection 
with any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest. 
 

3. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 4) 
 
 To approve the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting held on 29 

September 2022. 
 
 

Please note that public seating is limited, therefore members of the public 
are encouraged to arrive in good time. 
 
Wirral Council is fully committed to equalities and our obligations under The 
Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty. If you have any 
adjustments that would help you attend or participate at this meeting, please 
let us know as soon as possible and we would be happy to facilitate where 
possible. Please contact committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk 
 

Public Document Pack

https://wirral.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


4. PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS  
 
Public Questions 
 
 Notice of question to be given in writing or by email by 12 noon, Friday 

18 November 2022 to the Council’s Monitoring Officer via this link: 
Public Question Form and to be dealt with in accordance with Standing 
Order 10. 
  
For more information on how your personal information will be used, 
please see this link: 
Document Data Protection Protocol for Public Speakers at Committees 
| Wirral Council 
 
Please telephone the Committee Services Officer if you have not 
received an acknowledgement of your question/statement by the 
deadline for submission. 
 

Statements and Petitions 
 
 Statements 

Notice of representations to be given in writing or by email by 12 noon, 
Friday 18 November 2022 to the Council’s Monitoring Officer 
(committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk) and to be dealt with in accordance 
with Standing Order 11. 
  
Petitions 
Petitions may be presented to the Committee if provided to Democratic 
and Member Services no later than 10 working days before the 
meeting, at the discretion of the Chair. The person presenting the 
petition will be allowed to address the meeting briefly (not exceeding 
three minute) to outline the aims of the petition. The Chair will refer the 
matter to another appropriate body of the Council within whose terms 
of reference it falls without discussion, unless a relevant item appears 
elsewhere on the Agenda. If a petition contains more than 5,000 
signatures, it will be debated at a subsequent meeting of the Council 
for up to 15 minutes, at the discretion of the Chair. Please give notice 
of petitions to committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk in advance of the 
meeting. 
 
Please telephone the Committee Services Officer if you have not 
received an acknowledgement of your question/statement by the 
deadline for submission. 
 

Questions by Members 
 
 Questions by Members to be dealt with in accordance with Standing 

Orders 12.3 to 12.8. 
 
 
 
 
 

https://forms.office.com/r/H1WT279VSq
https://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Data%20Protection%20Protocol%20for%20Public%20Speakers%20at%20Co&ID=1298&RPID=517238898
https://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Data%20Protection%20Protocol%20for%20Public%20Speakers%20at%20Co&ID=1298&RPID=517238898
mailto:committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk
mailto:committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk


5. REFERRAL FROM AUDIT & RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE: 
REVISED CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 2022 (Pages 5 - 
28) 

 
Terms of Reference 
 
 The terms of reference for this committee can be found at the end of 

this agenda. 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



CONSTITUTION AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday, 29 September 2022 
 

Present: Councillor T Cox (Chair) 

 
 Councillors J McManus 

P Hayes 
A Onwuemene 
P Gilchrist 
 

S Percy (in place of 
P Stuart) 

 Independent 
Persons 

 RS Jones 
A Lloyd-Prince 
J McCosh 

  
 

 
 

10 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Paul Stuart, deputised by Cllr 
Sue Percy, and Chris Jones Independent Person. 
 

11 DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 
Members were asked to consider whether they had any disclosable pecuniary 
and/or any other relevant interest in connection with any item(s) on this 
agenda and, if so, to declare them and state what they are. 
 
No such declarations were made 
 

12 MINUTES (23 JUNE 2022)  
 
Resolved – That the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting held on 23 
June 2022 be agreed. 
 

13 PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS  
 
The Chair reported that there had been no public questions, statements or 
petitions submitted. 
 

14 OMBUDSMAN REPORT REGARDING SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS 
SERVICE  
 
Members agreed that this report should be heard in public and so agreed not 
to exclude the press and public on the understanding that they would avoid 
making any reference to any part of the report that would fall under the 
Exempt Information criteria. 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



The Director of Children, Families and Education introduced the report which 
detailed the findings of the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman in 
relation to a Wirral resident’s special education provision. The Ombudsman 
made a finding of maladministration and injustice against the Council. The 
report provided an overview of the investigation process and its findings, and 
an update of the actions taken in response to date. 
 
Members queried where the improvement plan would be presented for 
scrutiny and were advised by the Director of Children, Families and Education 
that the Children, Young People and Education Committee, the Health and 
Wellbeing Board and the Adult, Social Care and Public Health Committee had 
considered the report and that all health partners were engaged as well. 
 
The Chair stated that lessons had to be learned and acted upon. 
 
The Director of Children, Families and Education noted that wide ranging 
improvement plans were underway and that the issues highlighted by the 
Ombudsman in this case were part of those plans. Improvements had been 
made since the improvement plan had commenced and work was ongoing. 
 
On a motion by Councillor Tony Cox, seconded by Councillor Julie McManus 
it was –  
 
Resolved – That 
 

(1)  the findings of the Ombudsman Report be noted, 
 
(2)  the actions taken to date be noted, and; 
 
(3)   the matter be referred to the Children, Young People and   

Education Committee for monitoring as the Committee having 
responsibility for the oversight and scrutiny of the Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Transformation 
Programme. 

 
 

15 TERMS OF REFERENCE REPORT  
 
The Head of Democratic and Member Services introduced the report of the 
Head of Legal Services (Deputy Monitoring Officer)  
 
The Head of Democratic and Member Services reported that the incident 
raised in the report was in his opinion the result of an officer error and was not 
a systematic issue associated with the report sign off process. However, given 
that a report had unfortunately been submitted to the incorrect Policy & 
Service Committee for consideration, he hoped that the recommendation 

Page 2



contained within the report would offer the Committee further assurance of 
such an error reoccurring. 
 
The Chair noted that he was content with the explanation detailed in the 
report and was of the opinion that the recommendation offered the further 
reassurances that he sought on behalf of the Committee. 
 
On a motion by Councillor Tony Cox, seconded by Councillor Phil Gilchrist it 
was –  
 
Resolved – That 
 

(1)  that the current process for quality assuring reports that are 
presented to Committees be noted, and; 

 
(2)    the amending of the Council’s corporate report template to 

include a requirement for an extract of the Terms of Reference 
of the relevant Committee to be included in the report be 
endorsed. 

 
16 REFERRAL - REVIEW OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES  

 
Principal Lawyer Mr Hughes introduced the report of the Head of Legal 
Services (Deputy Monitoring Officer) 
 
The report outlined the recommendations of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee in respect of the Review of Contract Procedure Rules.  
 
The Chair noted that he was a Member of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee and queried if an interest needed to be declared. The Head of 
Legal Services confirmed that this would not preclude the Chair from taking 
part in the debate. 
 
Members noted the recommendation from the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) to empower Council officers to accept 
single quotations of under £25,000 in value without competition to speed up 
the procurement process, and asked for reassurance that officers could not 
make multiple purchases of just below £25,000 without some oversight. 
 
The Principal Lawyer noted that such purchases can only be made by senior 
procuring officers and that there would always be an audit trail. 
 
Members noted that the report to Audit and Risk Management Committee 
stated that the proposed Contract Procedure Rules have a Best Value and a 
Social Value criteria and questioned how much weighting was given to either 
of these criteria. 
 

Page 3



The Principal Lawyer noted that they were intertwined and that for a contract 
to be most economically advantageous, social value had to be taken into 
account under the Contract Procedure Rules, with a minimum weight of 5% to 
be taken into account for a tender. 
 
Councillor Julie McManus requested that further investigation be made into 
how Social Value is considered during the tender process. The Chair agreed 
that he would seek further clarification from officers after the meeting and 
feedback to Members of the Committee. 
 
On a motion by Councillor Tony Cox, seconded by Councillor Phil Gilchrist it 
was –  
 
Resolved – That the adoption of the changes to the Contract Procedure 
Rules be recommended to Full Council as part of the Council’s 
Constitution. 
 
 
 

Page 4



 

 

  

 

CONSTITUTION AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

WEDNESDAY 23 NOVEMBER 2022 
 

REPORT TITLE: REVISED CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

REPORT OF: HEAD OF LEGAL SERVICES 

 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
This report provides for consideration of the recommendations of the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee in respect of the revised Code of Corporate Governance. The full 
minute of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and the associated report of the 
Head of Legal Services is attached. 
 
RECOMMENDATION/S 
 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee held on 26 October 2022 resolved to 
recommend that the Constitution and Standards Committee consider the following: 
 
Resolved – That  
 

1. The revised Code of Corporate Governance as appended to the report be 
approved; and 
 
2. Constitution and Standards Committee be asked to recommend its adoption 
by Full Council of the revised Code of Corporate Governance and the 
framework detailed therein as part of the Council’s Constitution. 

 
  

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



 

 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S 
 

1.1 To ensure that the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance is compliant with the 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) / the Society of Local 

Authority Chief Executives and Senior Managers (SOLACE) Guidance / Framework 

for Delivering Good Governance in Local Government and follows best practice. 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

2.1 Other options have been considered as reported within the minutes of the  
Audit and Risk Management Committee and appended report. 
 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

3.1 The Council’s current Code of Corporate Governance was last revised in 2018. The 
Changes to the Code reflect the Council’s change in governance arrangements 
during that time, with the role of the Policy and Resources Committee being 
explained fully, alongside now fully explaining the role of the Monitoring Officer in 
relation to the Code. The evidence base for compliance with the Code has been 
updated to reflect the Council’s current operating model and procedures. Minor 
changes such as moving the Forward to the Code to the beginning of the 
introductory text and streamlining the Code’s framework have also been enacted. 
The changes have been commented on by Audit and Risk Management Committee 
but require approval from Constitution and Standards Committee and Council before 
they can be adopted. 
 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 
 
5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1 In accordance with Part 3B of the Constitution (Committee Terms of Reference), the 

Constitution and Standards Committee has two main areas of responsibility, which 
are overseeing the operation of the Council’s Constitution Page 46 and for promoting 
and maintaining high standards of ethical conduct and probity within the Council, 
including the exercise of all functions of the Authority in relation to ethical standards, 
and in particular, those under Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011. 

 
5.2 The Constitution and Standards Committee is charged by full Council to keep the 

Council’s constitutional arrangements under review and to make recommendations 
as to amendments and improvements to the Council’s Constitution, including the 
codes and protocols. As part of the matter of business that was the subject of the 
report to Audit and Risk Management Committee falls under that responsibility 
reserved to the Constitution and Standards Committee, the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee’s resolution is presented as a recommendation. 

 
5.3 As the decision in this matter is the subject of a recommendation from another 

Committee, the Constitution and Standards Committee must take into account the 

Page 6



 

 

resolution of that Committee and give due regard to the guidance and comments 
made by its members. The Constitution and Standards Committee must not 
however, consider itself bound by that Committee’s recommendations or oth erwise 
fetter its discretion; its Members must come to their own decision. In doing so, the 
Committee must satisfy itself that it has been provided with all relevant information or 
a suitable précis to enable it to comply with its duties and make a lawful decision. 

 
6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS 
 
6.1 This report is for information only and does not contain any direct resource  

implications. 
 
7.0 RELEVANT RISKS  
 
7.1 The risks were covered in the original report submitted to the Committee. 

 
8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION  
 
8.1 Engagement and Consultation were covered in the original report submitted to the 

Committee. 
 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 

carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help council services identify steps they can take to ensure 
equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision or activity. 

 
10.0  ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 

 
10.1 There are no direct environment or climate implications from this decision 
 
11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no direct community wealth implications from this decision. 

 
REPORT AUTHOR: Joe D’Henin 
  Democratic Services Officer 
  telephone:  0151 691 8139 
  email:  josephdhenin@wirral.gov.uk 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 Report to the Audit and Risk Management Committee. 
Appendix 2 Revised Code of Corporate Governance. 
Appendix 3 Minute extract from the meeting of the Audit and Risk Management 

Committee held on 26 October 2022. 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Constitution. 

Page 7



 

 

 
CIPFA / SOLACE Guidance / Framework for Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government (2016). 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
This report is being considered by the Constitution and Standards Committee in 
accordance with Section (a) of its Terms of Reference, “To keep the Council’s constitutional 
arrangements under review and to make recommendations as to amendments and 
improvements to the Council’s Constitution, including the codes and protocols.” 
 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

Audit and Risk Management Committee 
 
 

26 October 2022  

 
 

Page 8



 

 

 

 

 

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

Wednesday, 26 October 2022 
 

REPORT TITLE: REVISED CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

2022 

REPORT OF: HEAD OF LEGAL SERVICES 

 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
The report seeks the Committee’s approval of the Council’s revised Code of Corporate 
Governance. 
The Council’s current Code of Corporate Governance was last reviewed in 2018. 
This is not a Key Decision. 
 
RECOMMENDATION/S 

 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee is requested to: 
 

1. Approve the revised Code of Corporate Governance at Appendix 1 to the report; and 
 

2. Recommend to the Constitution and Standards Committee adoption by full Council 
of the revised Code of Corporate Governance and the framework detailed therein as 
part of the Council’s Constitution. 

 
 
 
 

Page 9



 

 

 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S 
 

1.1 To ensure that the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance is compliant with the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) / the Society of Local 
Authority Chief Executives and Senior Managers (SOLACE) Guidance / Framework 
for Delivering Good Governance in Local Government and follows best practice. 
 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

2.1 There was the option to not review the Code of Corporate Governance however this 
was not a suitable option as the last review was in 2018 and for good governance it 
should be regularly reviewed.  
 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

3.1 Corporate governance is a phrase used to describe how organisations direct and 
control what they do. For local authorities this also includes how a council relates to 
the communities that it serves. 

 
3.2 The Council’s current Code of Corporate Governance was last revised in 2018. 
 
3.3 The CIPFA / SOLACE framework applies to annual governance statements prepared 

for the financial year 2016/17 onwards. 
 
3.4 The concept underpinning the framework is that it is helping local government in 

taking responsibility for developing and shaping an informed approach to 
governance, aimed at achieving the highest standards in a measured and 
proportionate way. 

 
3.5 By applying the principles in the Code, the Council commits itself to discharging its 

functions and delivering its services to Wirral residents in a way that demonstrates 
accountability, transparency, effectiveness, integrity, and inclusivity. 

 
3.6 There are four main changes to the Code; 

a) The Forward to the Code has been brought from the end of the introductory 
text to the beginning to better introduce the Code. 

b) The role of Policy and Resources Committee has been explained following 
the change in governance arrangements as well as now fully explaining the 
role the Monitoring Officer has in regard to the Code. 

c) The new Code of Corporate Governance is a streamlined / more accessible 
framework, which communicates that the Council’s decision making process 
is based upon sound / clear principles. 

d) The evidence base for compliance with the Code has been updated to reflect 
the Council’s current operating model and procedures. 
 

3.7 As with the previous Code, the Council is required to demonstrate through evidence 
how it meets all aspects of the Code. The revised Code detailed at Appendix 1 sets 

Page 10



 

 

out the revised Code along with the evidence relied upon to demonstrate 
compliance. 
 
 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report 
 
5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The Council is required to ensure it has strong corporate governance arrangements 

in place so as to be able to effectively meet and discharge its obligations, 
responsibilities and duties. Inadequate governance arrangements could lead to 
significant governance issues arising leaving the Council open to challenge. 

 
5.2 Reviewing and amending the Code in accordance with the Framework will ensure 

that the Council’s governance arrangements are both fit for purpose and take into 
account the best practice guidance. An annual governance statement will need to be 
prepared in accordance with the Framework in order to meet the statutory 
requirement set out in the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 

 
6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS 
 
6.1 There are no direct implications arising from this report. 
 
7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
 
7.1 The Council is open to challenge should it not have effective corporate governance 

arrangements in place. 
 

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 
 
8.1 The Code of Corporate Governance review has been undertaken in consultation with 

senior officers and Internal Audit. 
 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There are no such direct implications arising from this report 
 
10.0  ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There are no such direct implications arising from this report 
 
11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no such direct implications arising from this report 

 
REPORT AUTHOR: Vicki Shaw 
Head of Legal Service 
telephone:   
email:  vickishaw@wirral.gov.uk 

Page 11



 

 

 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 Revised Code of Corporate Governance 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
CIPFA / SOLACE Guidance / Framework for Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government (2016) 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting Date 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Page 12



WIRRAL BOROUGH COUNCIL 

DRAFT CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 

FORWARD 

 

Wirral Council is required to operate within a governance framework, which is 

focussed around legislative requirements, principles of good governance, and 

management processes. 

 

It is of paramount importance therefore, that the Council clearly demonstrates to its 

constituents what governance arrangements are in place and how they impact 

upon the manner in which the Council operates. 

 

The Code of Corporate Governance is an accessible framework, which 

communicates that the Council’s decision making process is based upon sound / 

clear principles. 

 

WHAT IS CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 

Governance comprises the arrangements (including political, economic, social, 

environmental, administrative, legal and other arrangements) put in place to ensure 

that the Council’s intended outcomes for constituents and stakeholders are defined 

and achieved.  To deliver good governance Councillors and Officers alike must aim 

to achieve the Council’s objectives while acting in the public interest at all times. 

 

The Council is committed to applying the seven core principles as set out in the 

Society of Local Authority Chief Executives (SOLACE)/Chartered Institute of Public 

Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Good Governance Framework which comprises 

the following key elements:  

 

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting the rule of law: 

 

Page 13



B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement: 

 

C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and 

environmental benefits: 

 

D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimize the achievement of 

the intended outcomes: 

 

E. Developing the Council’s capacity, including the capability of its 

leadership and the individuals within it: 

 

F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and 

strong public financial management: 

 

G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to 

deliver effective accountability: 

 

MONITORING, REVIEW AND REPORTING 

 

Elected Members are collectively responsible for the governance of the Council.  

The Council by adopting this local code commits itself to continuously improving 

corporate governance in all of its activities.  To ensure it keeps to this on-going 

commitment the Council has Committees that are responsible for monitoring and 

reviewing the Council’s Corporate Governance arrangements.  These Committees 

and their functions are set out below.  [In addition, the Council has an Independent 

Remuneration Panel to advise and make recommendations to the Council on the 

scheme of allowances.] 

 

Policy and Resources Committee: 

 

The Policy and Resources Committee has two main areas of responsibility, which is 

to provide strategic direction to the operation of the Council, including making 

decisions on policies and co-ordinating spend not reserved to full Council, and to 

maintain a strategic overview of outcomes, performance, risk management and 

Page 14



budgets.  All Policy Committee Chairs will be represented on Finance and Policy 

Committee. 

 

Audit and Risk Management Committee: 

 

The Audit and Risk Management Committee is a key component of Wirral Council’s 

corporate governance.  It provides an independent and high-level focus on the 

audit, assurance and reporting arrangements that underpin good governance and 

financial standards.  The Committee provides independent assurance on the 

adequacy of the risk management framework and the associated control 

environment, independent scrutiny of the Council’s financial and non-financial 

performance to the extent that it affects the Council’s exposure to risk and weakens 

the control environment, and to oversee the financial reporting process.  It oversees 

internal audit and external audit, helping to ensure efficient and effective assurance 

arrangements are in place. 

 

Chief Finance (Section 151) Officer: 

 

The Chief Finance Officer has responsibility for delivering and overseeing the 

financial management arrangements of the Council and is the responsible finance 

officer under all relevant legislation.  The role conforms with the governance 

arrangements detailed in the CIPFA Statement ‘The role of the Chief Financial 

Officer in Local Government’ 2016.   

 

The Chief Finance Officer will ensure the financial prudence of decision making. 

 

The CFO chairs the Corporate Governance Group, which oversees the production 

of the Council’s Annual Governance Statement. 

 

Monitoring Officer: 

 

The Monitoring Officer is responsible for promoting and maintaining high standards 

of conduct in all matters affecting the Council ensuring decisions are made in 

accordance with the policy framework and, together with the Section 151 Officer, in 

accordance with the Budget Plan.  The Monitoring Officer is also required to report 

Page 15



to Council any actual or potential breaches of the law or maladministration. 

 

The Monitoring Officer is responsible for the review and monitoring of the Council’s 

Constitution, and able to make recommendations for changes, where reviewing the 

Constitution to Full Council. 

 

Corporate Governance Group 

 

The Corporate Governance Group is made up of key members of the Senior 

Leadership Team and senior officers with particular responsibility for oversight of 

governance and risk management.  They oversee the Council’s governance 

systems and processes for their effectiveness in practice, keeping them under 

review to ensure that they are up-to-date, and implementing appropriate monitoring 

and reporting. 

 

THE ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 

The Council has a responsibility for conducting an annual review of the 

effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of internal control 

in the form of an Annual Governance Statement.  This will provide an overall 

assessment of the Council’s Corporate Governance arrangements and an 

appraisal of the key controls in place to manage the Council’s principal governance 

risks.  The Statement will also provide details of where improvements need to be 

made. 

 

The Annual Governance Statement will be published as part of the Council’s 

Annual Statement of Accounts and will be audited by our External Auditors 

 

REGULAR REVIEW OF POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

The Council recognises that Corporate Governance needs to be embedded in all 

the services it delivers. Therefore, it has identified all those strategies, policies and 

procedures which staff and Members need to be aware of and comply with to 

meet the required standards of corporate governance.  

Page 16



 

 

A copy of this Code of Corporate Governance will be made available to the public 

on the Council’s website [LINK?].  A copy of the Annual Governance Statement will 

also be made available [LINK]. 

Page 17



 
Wirral Council Code of Corporate Governance  
 

Principle A:  Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and respecting the rule of law. 
 

Sub-principle 
 

Wirral Council is committed to achieving 
good governance and will  

The Council’s commitment to achieving good governance in practice is demonstrated by the 
following: 
 

Behaving with integrity  Ensure members and officers behave with 
integrity and promote a culture where acting in 
the public interest is visibly and consistently 
demonstrated thereby protecting the reputation 
of the organisation 

 Ensure members take the lead in establishing 
specific standard operating principles or values 
for the organisation and its staff (building on the 
Seven Principles of Public Life - The Nolan 
Principles) and that they are communicated 
and understood 

 Lead by example and use the above standard 
operating principles or values as a framework 
for decision making and other actions  

 Demonstrate, communicate and embed the 
standard operating principles or values through 
appropriate policies and processes which are 
reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that they 
are operating effectively. 

 Member’s Code of Conduct / Protocol 

 Employee’s Code of Conduct 

 Performance appraisal process 

 Policy and procedure for declaration of Conflict of Interest by Officers and Members 

 Policy and procedure for declaration of Gifts and Hospitality 

 Customer Access Strategy 

 ICT Security Policy  

 Elected Members – Information & ICT Security Acceptable Use Policy 

 Equalities Impact Assessment Toolkit 

 The Council’s Constitution 

 Public access to meetings and minutes 

 Role of Constitution and Standards Committee 

 Government guidelines for politically restricted posts. 

 Financial Regulations 

 Contract Procedure Rules 

 Freedom of Information, Environmental Information Regulations, Subject Access Requests 

 Dignity at work policy 

 Values and Behaviours statement 

 Whistleblowing policy / procedure 

 Anti-bribery policy 

 Anti-money laundering policy 

 Anti-fraud and corruption policy 

 Counter fraud and corruption strategy 

 Fraud response plan 

 Complaints policy 

 Grievance policy 

 Media Guidelines 

 Recommended code of practice for local authority publicity 
 

Demonstrating strong 
commitment to ethical 
values 

 Seek to establish, monitor and maintain the 
organisation’s ethical standards and 
performance 

 Underpin personal behaviour with ethical values 
and ensure they permeate all aspects of the 
organisation’s culture and operation 

 Develop and maintain robust policies and 
procedures which place emphasis on agreed 
ethical values 

 Ensure that external providers of services on 
behalf of the organisation are required to act 
with integrity and in compliance with ethical 
standards expected by the organisation 
 

 The Wirral Plan 

 Members Code of Conduct / Protocol 

 Officer’s Code of Conduct 

 Constitution and Standards Committee 

 Constitution  

 Scheme of Delegation 

 Wirral Partnership Framework 

 Dignity at work policy 

 Member training framework  

 Appraisal policy 

 Statement of business ethics communicates commitment to ethical values to external suppliers  

 Ethical values feature in contracts with external service providers 
 

Respecting the rule of 
Law 

 Ensure members and staff demonstrate a strong  Constitution 

P
age 18



Principle A:  Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and respecting the rule of law. 
 

commitment to the rule of the law as well as 
adhering to relevant laws and regulations  

 Create the conditions to ensure that the statutory 
officers, other key post holders, and members, 
are able to fulfil their responsibilities in 
accordance with legislative and regulatory 
requirements 

 Strive to optimise the use of the full powers 
available for the benefit of citizens, 
communities and other stakeholders  

 Deal with breaches of legal and regulatory 
provisions effectively 

 Ensure corruption and misuse of power are dealt 
with effectively. 
 

 Legal advice  

 Recruitment / selection / job evaluation procedures 

 Appraisal processes 

 WeLearn training system 

 Monitoring officer provisions, review of reports by Legal and record of legal advice provided by officers  

 Review of reports by Finance and Compliance with CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Chief 
Financial Officer in Local Government 

 Member’s code of conduct and protocol 

 Officer’s code of conduct 

 Anti-fraud policies. 

 Role of Constitution and Standards Committee 

 Processes for Gifts and Hospitality and Conflicts of Interest 

 
 
Principle B:  Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 
 

Sub-principle 
 

Wirral Council is committed to achieving 
good governance and will: 

The Council’s commitment to achieving good governance in practice is demonstrated by the 
following: 
 

Openness  Ensure an open culture through demonstrating, 
documenting and communicating the 
organisation’s commitment to openness 

 Make decisions that are open about actions, 
plans, resource use, forecasts, outputs and 
outcomes. The presumption is for openness. If 
that is not the case, a justification for the 
reasoning for keeping a decision confidential 
should be provided 

 Provide clear reasoning and evidence for 
decisions in both public records and 
explanations to stakeholders, being explicit 
about the criteria, rationale and considerations 
used. In due course, ensuring that the impact 
and consequences of those decisions are clear 

 Use formal and informal consultation and 
engagement to determine the most appropriate 
and effective interventions/ courses of action 

 Engagement & Stakeholder Relations Strategy  

 Wirral plan 

 Wirral Partnership Delivery Group and Partnership Framework 

 Wirral plan quarterly performance and update report  

 Minutes and reports of Council committees available on website 

 Records of decision making and supporting materials 

 Standard format for Committee reports 

 Options appraisal reports 

 Business case reports 

 Agreed programmes for scrutiny committees 

 Corporate Equality and Cohesion Strategy 

 Public Budget consultation 

 Statement of Accounts 

 FOI Act compliance publication 

 Environmental Impact Assessments as part of committee reports  

 Whistle Blowing policy / procedure 

 Annual Governance Statement 

 Arrangements to ensure compliance with Transparency Code 

 Neighbourhood working 
 

Engaging 
comprehensively with 
institutional 
stakeholders 

 Effectively engage with institutional stakeholders 
to ensure that the purpose, objectives and 
intended outcomes for each stakeholder 
relationship are clear so that outcomes are 
achieved successfully and sustainably 

 Develop formal and informal partnerships to 
allow for resources to be used more efficiently 
and outcomes achieved more effectively 

 Ensure that partnerships are based on trust, a 

 Engagement & Stakeholder Relations Strategy  

 Wirral plan 

 Wirral Partnership Delivery Group, Partnership Summit and Partnership Framework 

 Wirral plan quarterly performance and update report  
 
 
 

P
age 19



Principle B:  Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 
 

shared commitment to change, a culture that 
promotes and accepts challenge among 
partners and that the added value of 
partnership working is explicit 
 

Engaging with 
individual citizens and 
service users 
effectively 

 Establish a clear policy on the type of issues that 
the organisation will meaningfully consult with 
or involve communities, individual citizens, 
service users and other stakeholders to ensure 
that service (or other) provision is contributing 
towards the achievement of intended outcomes 

 Ensure that communication methods are 
effective and that members and officers are 
clear about their roles with regard to community 
engagement 

 Encourage, collect and evaluate the views and 
experiences of communities, citizens, service 
users and organisations of different 
backgrounds including reference to future 
needs 

 Implement effective feedback mechanisms in 
order to demonstrate how views have been 
taken into account 

 Balance feedback from more active stakeholder 
groups with other stakeholder groups to ensure 
inclusivity 

 Take account of the impact of decisions on 
future generations of tax payers and service 
users. 
 

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

 Wirral plan 

 Wirral Partnership Delivery Group, Partnership Summit and Partnership Framework 

 Updates reports on Scrutiny work programmes  

 Engagement & Stakeholder Relations Strategy  

 Residents’ surveys 

 Equality impact assessments 

 Constitution  

 Committee reporting template  

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

 Have Your Say website  
 

 
 
Principle C:  Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits.  
 

Sub-principle 
 

Wirral Council is committed to achieving 
good governance and will  

The Council’s commitment to achieving good governance in practice is demonstrated by the 
following: 
 

Defining outcomes   Have a clear vision, which is an agreed formal 
statement of the organisation’s purpose and 
intended outcomes containing appropriate 
performance indicators, which provide the basis 
for the organisation’s overall strategy, planning 
and other decisions  

 Specify the intended impact on, or changes for, 
stakeholders including citizens and service 
users. It could be immediately or over the 
course of a year or longer  

 Deliver defined outcomes on a sustainable basis 
within the resources that will be available  

 Identify and manage risks to the achievement of 
outcomes  

 Engagement & Stakeholder Relations Strategy  

 Wirral plan 

 Wirral Partnership Delivery Group and Partnership Framework 

 Performance Management framework  

 Corporate risk management policy and strategy  

 Programme management strategy/processes 
 

P
age 20



Principle C:  Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits.  
 

 Manage service users’ expectations effectively 
with regard to determining priorities and making 
the best use of the resources available.  
 

Sustainable economic, 
social and 
environmental benefits 

 Consider and balance the combined economic, 
social and environmental impact of policies and 
plans when taking decisions about service 
provision  

 Take a longer-term view with regard to decision 
making, taking account of risk and acting 
transparently where there are potential conflicts 
between the organisation’s intended outcomes 
and short-term factors such as the political 
cycle or financial constraints  

 Determine the wider public interest associated 
with balancing conflicting interests between 
achieving the various economic, social and 
environmental benefits, through consultation 
where possible, in order to ensure appropriate 
trade-offs  

 Ensure fair access to services.  

 Revenue Monitor report 

 Capital Monitor report 

 Annual Governance Statement   

 Public Health prioritisation process 

 Wirral plan 

 Council Reports to support major decisions outline key implications (economic, social, environmental) 
as applicable 

 Communication and engagement strategy 

 Record of public consultations 

 Reports and minutes available on the website 

 Social Value Policy 
 

 
Principle D:  Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes.  

Sub-principle 
 

Wirral Council is committed to achieving 
good governance and will  

The Council’s commitment to achieving good governance in practice is demonstrated by the 
following: 
 

Determining 
interventions  

 Determining the right mix of corporate (legal, 
assurance, regulatory, and finance) 
interventions to ensure intended outcomes are 
achieved Decisions made need to be reviewed 
frequently to ensure that achievement of 
outcomes is optimised  

 Consider feedback from citizens and service 
users when making decisions about service 
improvements or where services are no longer 
required in order to prioritise competing 
demands within limited resources available 
including people, skills, land and assets and 
bearing in mind future impacts.  

 

 Options appraisals 

 Council Reports, and underlying Business Case where appropriate, required to outline options 
considered and inherent risks 

 Committee Co-ordination and Oversight Group 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 Engagement & Stakeholder Relations Strategy 
 

Planning interventions  Establish and implementing robust planning and 
control cycles that cover strategic and 
operational plans, priorities and targets  

 Engage with internal and external stakeholders 
in determining how services and other courses 
of action should be planned and delivered  

 Consider and monitor risks facing each partner 
when working collaboratively, including shared 
risks  

 Ensure arrangements are flexible and agile so 
that the mechanisms for delivering goods and 

 Wirral Plan 

 Forward Plan 

 Directorate / Service Business Plans 

 Engagement & Stakeholder Relations Strategy 

 Corporate risk management policy and strategy  

 Corporate Risk Register 

 Power BI Report 

 Performance appraisals 

 Performance management framework 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 Budget and Policy Framework (Constitution) 

P
age 21



Principle D:  Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes.  

services can be adapted to changing 
circumstances 

 Establish appropriate key performance indicators 
(KPIs) as part of the planning process in order 
to identify how the performance of services and 
projects is to be measured  

 Ensure capacity exists to generate the 
information required to review service quality 
regularly 

 Prepare budgets in accordance with objectives, 
strategies and the medium term financial plan  

 Inform medium and long term resource planning 
by drawing up realistic estimates of revenue 
and capital expenditure aimed at developing a 
sustainable funding strategy. 
 

 Financial Regulations (Constitution). 
 

Optimising 
achievement of 
intended outcomes 

 Ensure the medium term financial strategy 
integrates and balances service priorities, 
affordability and other resource constraints  

 Ensure the budgeting process is all-inclusive, 
taking into account the full cost of operations 
over the medium and longer term  

 Ensure the medium term financial strategy sets 
the context for ongoing decisions on significant 
delivery issues or responses to changes in the  
external environment that may arise during the 
budgetary period in order for outcomes to be 
achieved while optimising resource usage  

 Ensure the achievement of ‘social value’ through 
service planning and commissioning.  
 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 Wirral Plan 

 Budget and Policy Framework (Constitution) 

 Financial Regulations (Constitution)  

 Council Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy reports 

 Power BI Report 
 

 
Principle E:  Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it.  
 

Sub-principle 
 

Wirral Council is committed to achieving 
good governance and will  

The Council’s commitment to achieving good governance in practice is demonstrated by the 
following: 
 

Developing the entity’s 
capacity 

 Review operations, performance and use of 
assets on a regular basis to ensure their 
continuing effectiveness  

 Improve resource use through appropriate 
application of techniques such as 
benchmarking and other options in order to 
determine how  
resources are allocated so that defined 
outcomes are achieved effectively and 
efficiently  

 Recognise the benefits of partnerships and 
collaborative working where added value can 
be achieved  

 Develop and maintain an effective workforce 
plan to enhance the strategic allocation of 

 Wirral Plan quarterly performance and update report  

 Wirral Plan Performance Management Framework  

 Wirral Plan 

 Wirral Partnership Framework 

 People Strategy / Organisational development plan 
 

P
age 22



Principle E:  Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it.  
 

resources.  
 

Developing the 
capability of the 
entity’s leadership and 
other individuals 

 Develop protocols to ensure that elected and 
appointed leaders negotiate with each other 
regarding their respective roles early on in the 
relationship and that a shared understanding of 
roles and objectives is maintained  

 Publish a statement that specifies the types of 
decisions that are delegated and those 
reserved for the collective decision making of 
the governing  
body  

 Ensure the leader and the chief executive have 
clearly defined and distinctive leadership roles 
within a structure whereby the chief executive 
leads in implementing strategy and managing 
the delivery of services and other outputs set 
by members and each provides a check and a  
balance for each other’s authority 

 Develop the capabilities of members and senior 
management to achieve effective leadership 
and to enable the organisation to respond  
successfully to changing legal and policy 
demands as well as economic, political and 
environmental changes and risks by: ensuring 
members and staff have access to appropriate 
induction tailored to their role and that ongoing 
training and development matching individual 
and organisational requirements is available 
and encouraged  

 Ensure members and officers have the 
appropriate skills, knowledge, resources and 
support to fulfil their roles and responsibilities 
and ensure that they are able to update their 
knowledge on a continuing basis  

 Ensure personal, organisational and system-
wide development through shared learning, 
including lessons learnt from governance 
weaknesses both  
internal and external  

 Ensure that there are structures in place to 
encourage public participation  

 Take steps to consider the leadership’s own 
effectiveness and ensuring leaders are open to 
constructive feedback from peer review and 
inspection. 

 Hold staff to account through regular 
performance reviews which take account of 
training or development needs 

 Ensure arrangements are in place to maintain 
the health and wellbeing of the workforce and 

 Elected Member Training & Development Programme  

 Wirral plan and Strategic Partnership frameworks 

 Constitution and Standards Committee 

 Constitution - including Financial Regulations, Schemes of Delegation, Protocol on Members and 
Officers relations 

 Induction programme 

 Performance appraisal procedure and linked development plans 

 Senior Manager meetings  

 Corporate Governance Group 

 Engagement & Stakeholder Relations Strategy  

 Webcasting 

 Residents survey 

 External audit reports 

  

 Employee assistance programme 

 Work Life Balance policy 

 Occupational Health policy / procedure 

 Attendance management policy / procedure 

 Employee benefits programme 

 Health and Well-Being Strategy  

 People strategy 
 

P
age 23



Principle E:  Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it.  
 

support individuals in maintaining their own 
physical  
and mental wellbeing. 
 

 
 
 
Principle F:  Managing risk and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management 
 

Sub-principle 
 

Wirral Council is committed to achieving 
good governance and will  

The Council’s commitment to achieving good governance in practice is demonstrated by the 
following: 
 

Managing Risk 
 

 Recognise that risk management is an integral 
part of all activities and must be considered in 
all aspects of decision making 

 Implement robust and integrated risk 
management arrangements and ensure that 
they are working effectively 

 Ensure that responsibilities for managing 
individual risks are clearly allocated. 
 

 Modgov system 

 Standard committee report template inc risk management section and guidance 

 Members’ code of conduct Officers’ code of conduct 

 Conflict of interest annual declaration. 

 Audit & Risk Management Committee Terms of Reference. 

 Corporate risk management policy and strategy/framework 

 Risk management guidance on Wirral Intranet 

 Corporate and Directorate Risk Registers 

 Power BI reporting – Directorate Insights pack 

 Programme management - risk management arrangements, business cases and reporting 

 Health & Safety Policy 
 

Managing performance  Monitor service delivery effectively including 
planning, specification, execution and 
independent post implementation review 

 Make decisions based on relevant, clear 
objective analysis and advice pointing out the 
implications and risks inherent in the 
organisation’s financial, social and 
environmental position and outlook 

 Ensure an effective scrutiny or oversight function 
is in place which provides effective and 
constructive challenge and debate on policies 
and objectives before, during and after 
decisions are made thereby enhancing the 
organisation’s performance and that of any 
organisation for which it is responsible 

 Provide members and senior management with 
regular reports on service delivery plans and on 
progress towards outcome achievement  

 Ensure there is consistency between 
specification stages (such as budgets) and post 
implementation reporting (e.g. financial 
statements). 
 

 Complaints Procedure. 

 Committees and reports 

 Public access to meetings and minutes 

 Publication of agenda and minutes of scrutiny meetings (including calendar of dates for submitting, 
publishing and distributing reports)  

 Committee reports and Member briefings 

 ARMC Annual Self-Assessment against “A toolkit for Local Authority Audit Committees” 

 Monthly Capital and Revenue Monitoring 

 Performance Management Framework 

 Constitution 

 Corporate Risk Management Policy  

 Corporate, Directorate and Programme / Project Risk Registers 

 Whistle-blowing Policy & Procedure  

 Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 Budget and Policy Framework (Constitution) 

 Financial Regulations (Constitution) 

 Power BI reporting – Directorate Insights pack 

 Organisational Performance Group (OPG) – monthly meetings 
 

Robust internal control  Align the risk management strategy and policies 
on internal control with achieving objectives 

 Evaluate and monitor risk management and 
internal control on a regular basis 

 Annual governance statement  

 Corporate risk management policy 

 Annual internal audit review of the risk management framework 

 Internal Audit Reports 

P
age 24



 
Principle F:  Managing risk and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management 
 

 Ensure effective counter fraud and anti-
corruption arrangements are in place 

 Ensure additional assurance on the overall 
adequacy and effectiveness of the framework 
of governance, risk management and control is 
provided by the internal auditor 

 Ensure an audit committee which is independent 
of the executive and accountable to the 
governing body provides a further source of 
effective assurance regarding arrangements for 
managing risk and maintaining an effective 
control environment and that its 
recommendations are listened to and acted 
upon. 
 

 Internal Audit Plan 

 Internal Audit Progress Reports to Audit and Risk Management Committee  

 Chief internal auditor’s annual report / annual audit opinion 

 Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption policy 

 Fraud awareness campaigns and proactive work 

 Annual programme of proactive and reactive internal audit work in respect of counter fraud & corruption 

 Audit and Risk Management Committee’s annual self-assessment against the “Internal Audit Toolkit for 
Local Authority Audit Committees”  

 Training for ARMC Members. 
 

Managing data  Ensure effective arrangements are in place for 
the safe collection, storage, use and sharing of 
data, including processes to safeguard 
personal data 

 Ensure effective arrangements are in place and 
operating effectively when sharing data with 
other bodies 

 Review and audit regularly the quality and 
accuracy of data used in decision making and 
performance monitoring. 
 

 Information Governance policies 

 General Data Protection Regulations  training 

 Performance Management Framework guidance 

 SIRO report – annual 

 Information Asset Owners and Administrators 

 Record of Processing Activity (RoPA) 

 Cyber Security training – annual requirement 
 

Strong public financial 
management 

 Ensure financial management supports both long 
term achievement of outcomes and short-term 
financial and operational performance 

 Ensure well-developed financial management is 
integrated at all levels of planning and control, 
including management of financial risks and 
controls. 
 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules (Constitution) 

 Financial Regulations (Constitution) 

 Risk assessment within the medium term financial strategy. 
 

 
 
Principle G:  Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver effective accountability 
 

Sub-principle 
 

Wirral Council is committed to achieving 
good governance and will  

The Council’s commitment to achieving good governance in practice is demonstrated by the 
following: 
 

Implementing good 
practice in 
transparency  

 Write and communicate reports for the public and 
other stakeholders in a fair, balanced and 
understandable style appropriate to the 
intended audience and ensuring that they are 
easy to access and interrogate 
 

 Strike a balance between providing the right 
amount of information to satisfy transparency 
demands and enhance public scrutiny while not 
being too onerous to provide and for users to 

 Conflict of interest annual declaration. 

 Complaints Procedure. 

 Overview & Scrutiny Committees 

 Public access to meetings and minutes  

 Webcasting of Council meetings 
 

P
age 25



 
Principle G:  Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver effective accountability 
 

understand. 
 

Implementing good 
practices in reporting 

 Report at least annually on performance, value 
for money and the stewardship of resources to 
stakeholders in a timely and understandable 
way 

 Ensure members and senior management own 
the results reported 

 Ensure robust arrangements for assessing the 
extent to which the principles contained in this 
Framework have been applied and publish the 
results on this assessment, including an action 
plan for improvement and evidence to 
demonstrate good governance (the annual 
governance statement) 

 Ensure that this Framework is applied to jointly 
managed or shared service organisations as 
appropriate 

 Ensure the performance information that 
accompanies the financial statements is 
prepared on a consistent and timely basis and 
the statements allow for comparison with other, 
similar organisations. 
 

 Wirral Plan  

 Statement of Accounts 

 Annual Governance Statement and review process including review of Code of Corporate Governance. 

 Modgov system 

 Committee Report template. 
 

Assurance and 
effective accountability 

 Ensure that recommendations for corrective 
action made by external audit are acted upon  

 Ensure an effective internal audit service with 
direct access to members is in place, providing 
assurance with regard to governance 
arrangements and that recommendations are 
acted upon 

 Welcome peer challenge, reviews and 
inspections from regulatory bodies and 
implement recommendations 

 Gain assurance on risks associated with 
delivering services through third parties and 
that this is evidenced in the annual governance 
statement 

 Ensure that when working in partnership, 
arrangements for accountability are clear and 
the need for wider public accountability has 
been recognised and met. 
 

 Internal Audit Annual Plan 

 Internal Audit Reports 

 Internal Audit Annual Report 

 Chief Internal Auditor’s (CIA’s) Progress update reports to ARMC 

  

 Compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 

 External audit reports to ARMC 

 Annual Governance Statement 

 Communications & engagement strategy 

 Wirral Plan  

 The Wirral Partnership Delivery Group and partnership framework 
 

 
 

P
age 26



AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

Wednesday 26 October 2022 

Minute extract 

 

10 CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 2022 

The Head of Legal Services introduced her report which detailed the revised 

Code of Corporate Governance for approval, which was last reviewed in 

2018. The Code communicated the Council’s decision making processes and 

the principles underlining them, and had been updated following the move 

from Cabinet to Committee-based decision making. 

Resolved: That  
(1) the revised Code of Corporate Governance at Appendix 1 to the 
report be approved; and  
(2) Constitution and Standards Committee be recommend full Council to 
adopt the revised Code of Corporate Governance and the framework 
detailed therein as part of the Council’s Constitution. 
 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Constitution and Standards Committee – Terms of Reference 
 
The Constitution and Standards Committee is responsible for overseeing the 
operation of the Council’s Constitution and for promoting and maintaining high 
standards of ethical conduct and probity within the Council, including the exercise of 
all functions of the Authority in relation to ethical standards and, in particular, those 
under Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
The Committee is charged by full Council to undertake responsibility for the Council’s 
role and functions:- 

(a) to keep the Council’s constitutional arrangements under review and to make 
recommendations as to amendments and improvements to the Council’s 
Constitution, including the codes and protocols; 

(b) to oversee and agree such minor and consequential changes to the Council’s 
constitutional arrangements as are recommended by the Monitoring officer from 
time to time; 

(c) to hear and determine complaints against members alleging breaches of the 
Members’ Code of Conduct; 

(d) to take an action in respect of a member found to be in breach; 
(e) to oversee and approve the operation of the Council’s functions relating to the 

promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct amongst members and 
co-opted members of the   Council including: 
 
(i) approving and issuing guidance to Members 
(ii) making recommendations to Full Council regarding the suggested 

amendment of the Members’ Code of Conduct 
(iii) approving training to be provided to members in the Code of Conduct 
(iv) monitoring the operation of the Code of Conduct 

 
(f) to approve the granting, to any Council employee, of a dispensation in relation to 

disqualification from political activities Local Government and Housing Act 1989; 
(g) to select and recommend to Council persons for appointment as members of the 

Council’s Independent Remuneration Panel; 
(h) to select and recommend to Council persons for appointment as an Independent 

Person; 
(i) to receive and approve proposals regarding the Council’s exercise of powers 

covered by the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act;  
(j) to issue dispensations to any member in respect of statutory and non-statutory 

disclosable interests; 
(k) to monitor and review as necessary the operation of whistleblowing procedures; 
(l) to consider reports arising from external inspections, audit investigations, 

Ombudsman investigations where maladministration is found, legal challenges 
and other sources which cast doubt on the honesty or integrity of the Council or 
its Members; and 

(m) to consider and make recommendations on such other matters as the 
Committee itself thinks appropriate or which are referred to it by Council, which 
further the aim of promoting and maintaining the highest standards of conduct 
within the Council. 

 

Page 29

Agenda Annex



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Referral from Audit & Risk Management Committee: Revised Code of Corporate Governance 2022
	Appendix 1. Report to the Audit and Risk Management Committee 26.10.2022: Code of Corporate Governance 2022
	Appendix 2. Revised Code of Corporate Governance 2022
	Appendix 3. Audit and Risk Management Committee 26 October Minute Extract

	 Terms of Reference

